FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/15/2020 4:40 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99123-5
Court of Appeals No. 36554-9-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATT THOMPSON, an individual,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, BOARD OF APPEALS,

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court for Benton County Cause No. 17-2-02688-1

PETITON FOR REVIEW

Allen R. Benson, WSBA # 51137 SCHLEMLEIN FICK & FRANKLIN PLLC 66 S. Hanford St., Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98134

P: (206) 448-8100 F: (206) 448-8514 E: arb@soslaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Petitioner-Appellant Matt C. Thompson respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner Thompson seeks review of the unpublished opinion entered in the above-referenced case by the Court of Appeals, Division III on July 23, 2020. The Division III Court of Appeals denied the Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion for Publication on September 15, 2020. The Court of Appeals Opinion to be reviewed is included in the Appendix to this Petition.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Review Judge arbitrarily and capriciously conclude that the competent vulnerable adult's sworn hearing testimony that she had given prior approval and/or subsequently ratified all of the Petitioner's actions "was insufficient to refute the presumption of undue influence assigned when an agent with a fiduciary duty makes a gift of a principle's property to themselves."
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals' erroneously determine that "[t]he Review Judge did not specifically disagree with the ALJ's credibility determinations" where the Review Judge entered findings of fact and conclusions of law that contradicted, conflicted with, and even expressly

rejected the express credibility determinations of the ALJ, as well as the ALJ's findings and conclusions that were substantially based on the credibility of evidence or demeanor of witnesses?

- 3. Did the Review Judge err by failing to give "due regard to the ALJ's opportunity to observe witnesses" as required by RCW 34.05.464(4) and WAC 388-02-0600(1) when by modifying, replacing, and rejecting the ALJ's factual findings and legal conclusions, particularly those findings and conclusions that were substantially and expressly based on the ALJ's express credibility determinations?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to apply a heightened level of scrutiny to the Review Judge's findings of fact and conclusions of law where the Review Judge found that the ALJ's "Initial Findings of Fact were insufficient and are only adopted as modified above . . Initial Conclusions of Law 5.7 through 5.14 contained errors of law or were based on previous erroneous Conclusions of Law or Findings of Fact and are not adopted and incorporated as conclusions for this decision"? ¹
- 5. Did the Review Judge exceed his authority when he applied the incorrect legal framework to review and sustain the Department's initial finding that Matt Thompson financially exploited his mother?

¹ See Tapper v. State Employment Sec. Dept., 122 Wn.2d 397, 405 n. 3, 858 P.2d 494 (1993) ("Some federal courts have suggested that where the reviewing officer ignores or reverses the credibility findings of the hearing officer, heightened scrutiny should apply to substantial evidence review of any substituted findings of fact. . . . Given the particular solicitude of RCW 34.05.464(4) for the credibility findings of the hearing officer, some such rule would seem warranted. However, since this is not a substantial evidence case we do not address the question of what such a rule would look like."); see also Hardee v. State, Dept. of Social and Health Services, 172 Wn.2d 1, 19 n. 11, 256 P.3d 339 (2011).

- 6. Did the Review Judge violate the Petitioner's Constitutional right to Due Process when it erroneously adopted and applied a common law legal framework to control his review of the Department's initial finding of financial exploitation which shifted the burden of proof from the Department to the Petitioner and increased the evidentiary burden from a preponderance of the evidence to clear, cogent, and convincing evidence?
- 7. Did the Review Judge violate the Petitioner's Constitutional right to Due Process applying an incorrect legal framework that was materially different and in direct conflict to the legal framework that was used by the Parties and Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") to prepare the evidentiary record?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") Adult Protective Services ("APS") determination that the Petitioner, Matt Thompson, financially exploited his mother, Janet, by spending her money for his benefit without her approval. After DSHS notified Mr. Thompson of the APS determination, Mr. Thompson requested an administrative hearing to challenge the APS finding of financial exploitation. Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH") Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") presided over the May 1, 2017 evidentiary hearing and witnessed the live testimony of witnesses including the petitioner (Matt Thompson), the vulnerable adult (Janet Thompson), and the APS Investigator (Sally Wilkins).

The vulnerable adult and her three (3) children (including the Petitioner) testified that the Petitioner was aware of and approved of every financial transaction at issue in this case. The ALJ found that the testimony of DSHS employees confirmed that the vulnerable adult was competent and that expressly found the testimony of the vulnerable adult and her family members to be credible. The ALJ held that all of the financial transactions complained of by DSHS were authorized by the vulnerable adult's the power of attorney and the vulnerable adult, personally. The ALJ discredited most of the vulnerable adult's original statements to the APS Investigator because the vulnerable adult's hearsay statements to the investigator conflicted with her sworn hearing testimony and the vulnerable adult convincingly testified that "she did not want to deal with the investigator when she was interviewed at the facility." After properly applying the law and weighing the evidence, the ALJ ultimately concluded:

- 5.12 The department in this case seeks to impose their judgment for an adult's judgment how to spend her money with her family not because they believe she is not competent to make those decisions but simply because she meets the definition of a vulnerable adult by her age and residence and they believe they would have made a different decision. This type of action is arrogant and violates the rights of the vulnerable adult and her family.
- 5.13 The investigator, Ms. Wilkins appeared to have prejudged the events in this family and looked to establish her judgment in the matter. When the vulnerable adult called her angry at what had transpired and explained

that she was aware and had approved the appellant's actions, she [Ms. Wilkins] ignored her [the vulnerable adult] because she believed the vulnerable adult was being taken advantage of by her son. She [Ms. Wilkins] selectively sought evidence that supported her preexisting conclusion and ignored any other evidence. Ms. Wilkins was not a credible witness when she did not directly answer the appellant's attorney's questions but was argumentative to justify her decision.

5.14 Based on the above the department has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the appellant financially exploited the vulnerable adult.

On July 10, 2017, DSHS appealed the ALJ's Initial Order to a DSHS Review Judge. The Review Judge expressly acknowledged in his Final Order that he had modified, replaced, or rejected all of the ALJ's factual findings and all of the legal conclusions that were substantially based on the ALJ's express credibility determinations. The Review Judge also improperly applied a common law presumption that shifted and increased the burden of proof without notice or an opportunity to supplement the evidentiary record. Additionally, the Review Judge ignored the testimony of the vulnerable adult and all her children that Mr. Thompson did not financially exploit or otherwise abuse his mother. Ultimately, the Review Judge held that the Petitioner failed to overcome the presumption of undue influence and, consequently, affirmed the DSHS finding that the Petitioner financially exploited his mother.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals concurred with the Review Judge and applied the same improper legal framework and burden-shifting presumption. The Court of Appeals failed to evaluate whether the ALJ gave adequate deference to the ALJ's express credibility determinations, concluding that "the ALJ did not specifically disagree with the ALJ's credibility determinations" despite the Review Judge's admission that he did not accept any of the ALJ's factual findings or legal conclusions that were based on the ALJ's credibility determinations without modification. With little thought or discussion, the Court of Appeals upheld the Review Judge's erroneous decision on July 23, 2020 and denied the Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration on September 15, 2020.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with This Court's Holdings and Published Holdings of the Courts of Appeals that an Agent's Act is Authorized if it is Approved or Ratified by the Principle.

The Court of Appeals erroneously upheld the Review Judge's determination that "Mr. Thompson's self-appropriations of his mother's resources were unauthorized" despite the vulnerable adult's sworn hearing testimony "that any money spent by Mr. Thompson was done with her permission." The Court of Appeals decision directly conflicts with the holdings of this Court that "[t]he [principle's] ratification [of an agent's act] operates upon the act ratified precisely as though authority to do the act had

² CP 53.

been previously given." *Williams v. Shoudy*, 12 Wn. 362, 368, 41 P. 169 (1895); *see also Nichols Hills Bank v. McCool*, 104 Wash. 2d 78, 85, 701 P.2d 1114, 1118 (1985). This Court has explained that "[t]o be charged by ratification with the unauthorized act of an agent, the principal must act with full knowledge of the facts, accept the benefits of the acts, or without inquiry assume an obligation imposed." Riss v. Angel, 131 Wash. 2d 612, 636, 934 P.2d 669, 683 (1997) (citing *Stroud v. Beck*, 49 Wn.App. 279, 286, 742 P.2d 735 (1987)).

The Court of Appeals' decision in this matter is in conflict with this Court's interpretation and application of the legal principle of ratification, since it affirmed the Review Judge's determination that the financial transactions were not authorized despite the vulnerable adult's hearing testimony approving of the transactions with full knowledge of the material facts related thereto. Consequently, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the Court accept his Petition for Review.

B. The Appropriate Level of Deference that a Review Judge Owes to an ALJ's Credibility Determinations and the Appropriate Level of Scrutiny for Judicial Review where a Review Judge modifies, ignores, or rejects the ALJ's Credibility Findings are Issues of Substantial Public Interest That Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court has indicated in two (2) prior opinions that a heightened level of "scrutiny should apply to substantial evidence review of any substituted findings of fact. . . . Given the particular solicitude of RCW 34.05.464(4) for the credibility findings of the hearing officer." However, the particular facts and issues before the Court in those cases did not afford

this Court the opportunity to establish the appropriate standard of review and, consequently, the question remains unanswered to this date. *See Hardee v. State, Dept. of Social and Health Services*, 172 Wn.2d 1, 19 n. 11, 256 P.3d 339 (2011).

The ALJ's Initial Order included several findings of fact and conclusions of law that were substantially based on the ALJ's determinations regarding the credibility of evidence and demeanor of witnesses, including:

- 5.7 The department did not believe the vulnerable adult when she told investigator in the phone call that she was aware of the appellant's actions and had approved his actions. The vulnerable adult testified that she had not wanted to deal with the investigator when she was interviewed at the facility. She did not know who she was and didn't want to talk to her. She testified she just wanted to get rid because she didn't like her. The vulnerable adult's statement that she would rather die than deal with this was explained that she did not want to talk to the investigator. Her statement was about the investigator and not anything with the appellant.
- 5.8 The vulnerable adult showed no evidence of dementia and is substantiated by the MMSE of the investigator and the social worker. The vulnerable adult's testimony that she just wanted to get rid of the investigator is credible given the vulnerable adult's reaction to the investigator at the hearing.

- 5.9 Given the credibility of the vulnerable adult's statements that she was aware of the appellant's actions, paying his family to clean and prepare her home for sale there could be no deception, intimidation or undue influence. In addition to the vulnerable adult the appellant['s] sister also confirmed that she was aware of what the appellant was doing.
- 5.10 ... The vulnerable [adult] credibly testified that she was aware of and approved of the appellant's actions.

. . .

1.13 The investigator, Ms. Wilkins appeared to have prejudged the events in this family and looked to establish her judgment in the matter. When the vulnerable adult called her angry at what had transpired and explained that she was aware and had approved the appellant's actions, she ignored her because she believed the vulnerable adult was being taken advantage of by her son. She selectively sought evidence that supported her preexisting conclusion and ignored any other evidence. Ms. Wilkins was not a credible witness when she did not directly answer the appellant's attorney's questions but was argumentative to justify her decision.

The Review Judge expressly admitted his Final Order rejected all of the ALJ's findings and the above-quoted legal conclusions. The Review Judge did not adequately justify his rejection or modification of the ALJ's express credibility determinations, nor did he sufficiently describe the deference afforded to the ALJ's credibility decisions before deciding to modify and/or reject them. The ALJ's credibility determinations provided substantial

support for the ALJ's decision to reverse the DSHS finding of financial exploitation and, therefore, the Court should take this opportunity to establish the appropriate level of deference and review procedures by accepting this Petition for Review.

C. The Appropriateness Review Judge's Adoption and Application of a New Legal Framework and Burden-Shifting Scheme that was Not Contemplated or Advocated by Either Party and Conflicts with the Controlling Statutes and Regulations Raises a Significant Question of Constitutional Law.

The Review Judge's erroneous conduct in this matter raises several significant questions of law under the State and Federal Constitutions – all of which merit this Court's review. This Petition for Review presents the following issues of Constitutional law and support a decision by this Court to accept this Petition for Review: that raise Constitutional questions are:

- 1. Did the Review Judge exceed his authority when he applied the incorrect legal framework to review and sustain the Department's initial finding that Matt Thompson financially exploited his mother?
- Did the Review Judge violate the Petitioner's Constitutional right to Due Process when it erroneously adopted and applied a common law legal framework to control his review of the Department's initial finding of financial exploitation which shifted the burden of proof from the Department to the Petitioner and increased the evidentiary burden from a preponderance of the evidence to clear, cogent, and convincing evidence?
- 3. Did the Review Judge violate the Petitioner's Constitutional right to Due Process applying an incorrect legal framework that was materially different and in direct conflict to the legal framework that was used by the Parties

and Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") to prepare the evidentiary record?

Although some of these issues may not have been previously raised by the Petitioner or his attorneys, this Court has held that "[a] constitutional claim may be raised initially on appeal. *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wash. 2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646, 646 (1983).

Procedural due process imposes limits on governmental decisions that affect an individual's liberty or property interests." In re A.W., 182 Wn.2d 689, 702, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015). "Procedural due process requires both notice and an opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner,' appropriate to the case." Prostov v. State, Dep't of Licensing, 186 Wn. App. 795, 810, 349 P.3d 874, 882 (2015) (quoting Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006)). "A fundamental tenet of due process is notice of the charges or claims against which one must defend." Mansour v. King Cty., 131 Wn. App. 255, 270, 128 P.3d 1241, 1249 (2006). "Principles of due process control what process is required, including the proper standard of proof." Prostov v. State, Dep't of Licensing, 186 Wash. App. 795, 810, 349 P.3d 874, 882 (2015). "A fundamental tenet of due process is notice of the charges or claims against which one must defend." Mansour v. King Cty., 131 Wash. App. 255, 270, 128 P.3d 1241, 1249 (2006). "[A]n elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action

and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." Mansour v.

King Cty., 131 Wn. App. 255, 271 n. 42, 128 P.3d 1241, 1249 (2006)

(quoting City of Redmond v. Arroyo-Murillo, 149 Wn.2d 607, 617, 70 P.3d

947 (2003)). Due Process also affords an individual the right to know

exactly what an administrative agency must prove to substantiate a

particular claim or charge against an individual before the any enforcement

action arising from the claim or charge may be taken by the agency. See

Mansour v. King Cty., 131 Wn. App. 255, 272, 128 P.3d 1241, 1250 (2006).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Review Judge violated the Petitioner's right to due process

when he applied a common law presumption that deviated from the

regulatory framework in WAC 388-71-01255 by increasing and shifting the

burden of proof to the detriment of Petitioner. The Review Judge again

violated the Petitioner's right to due process by not providing notice and an

opportunity to supplement the evidentiary record after deciding to apply the

burden-shifting presumption and before entering factual and legal findings

in this matter. Consequently, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this

Court accept his Petition for Review.