FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/17/2020 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99123-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATT THOMPSON,

Appellant

v.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, BOARD OF APPEALS

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

COURTNEY VALE LYON Assistant Attorney General WSBA No.43226 PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 360-586-6516 OID No. 91021

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED
A. The Review Judge Did Not Err When He Concluded That Mr. Thompson Had Breached His Fiduciary Duty to His Mother 5
B. The Review Judge Appropriately Deferred to the ALJ's Credibility Determinations and No Substantial Public Interest Exists
C. Mr. Thompson's Constitutional Rights Were Not Violated 15
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 197 Wn. App 539, 389 P.3d 731 (2017)
Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd., 117 Wn.2d 720, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991)
<i>Hardee v. State, Dept. of Social & Health Services,</i> 172 Wn.2d 1, 256 P.3d 339 (2011)
Mansour v. King Cnty, 131 Wn. App. 255, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006)
Nichols Hills Bank v. McCool, 104 Wn.2d 78, 701 P.2d 1114 (1985) 12
<i>Riss v. Angel</i> , 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)12
<i>Williams v. Shoudy</i> , 12 Wn. 362, 41 P. 169 (1895)

Statutes RCW 74.34.020(22) RCW 74.34.020(7) RCW 74.34.020(7)(b) RCW 74.34.020(7)(b) 10 Rules RAP 13.4(b) 2, 10 RAP 13.4(b)(1) 10, 13

Regulations

WAC 182-513-1509	3
------------------	---

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY

The Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) is the Respondent. Discretionary review is not warranted here because the Court of Appeals' decision correctly upheld the order entered by the DSHS Board of Appeals Review Judge. Matt Thompson financially exploited his mother, Janet¹, because he used his power of attorney to make multiple transfers out of her accounts for his own travel and pleasure. He did so without her prior knowledge or consent, while her assisted living facility rent was in arrears. The Review Judge appropriately found Mr. Thompson breached his fiduciary duties to Janet and exerted an undue influence over her that allowed him to obtain and use her assets for his own purposes. The Court of Appeals' decision was consistent with relevant case law, and this case raises neither a significant issue of constitutional law nor an issue of substantial public interest. The petition for review should be denied.

II. DECISION

Mr. Thompson seeks discretionary review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, dated July 23, 2020. That decision affirmed the DSHS Board of Appeals Review Judge's decision upholding DSHS's finding that Mr. Thompson financially exploited a vulnerable adult.

¹ The vulnerable adult is referred to in the record by her first name to preserve confidentiality No disrespect is intended.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Thompson does not raise an issue that meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). If review were granted, the issues would be:

1. Did the Review Judge err by considering whether Mr. Thompson had breached his fiduciary duty to his mother?

2. Did the Review Judge give appropriate deference to the administrative law judge's (ALJ) credibility determinations?

3. Was Mr. Thompson on notice that his fiduciary duty as attorney-in-fact for his mother was at issue in the administrative proceeding?

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Thompson does not specifically assign error to any finding of fact. A petitioner challenging any findings of fact must show that the findings are clearly erroneous. *Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd.*, 117 Wn.2d 720, 728, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991). Unchallenged administrative findings of fact are accepted as verities upon review. *Id.*

Here, Janet, a vulnerable adult,² signed a power of attorney appointing her son, Matt Thompson as her attorney-in-fact on January 14, 2014. Clerk's Papers (CP) 321-26. The power of attorney specifically

² The statute defines "vulnerable adult" to include, in relevant part, a person sixty years of age or older who has the functional, mental, or physical inability to care for himself or herself or a person admitted to any facility. RCW 74.34.020(22)

imposed a fiduciary duty on Mr. Thompson as the attorney-in-fact: "All powers granted to the Attorney-in-Fact herein shall be exercised by the Attorney-in-Fact in a fiduciary capacity." CP 323. Though Mr. Thompson's authority as attorney-in-fact allowed him reasonable fees for his services, the power of attorney explicitly prevented him from transferring assets of the estate to himself: "Under no circumstances may the Attorney-in-Fact exercise any of the powers herein, directly or indirectly, for a transfer to themselves, their estate, their creditors, or the creditors of their estate." *Id*.

Janet suffered a stroke in 2014, at about 74 years of age. Report of Proceedings (RP) 196, l. 10. Upon her release from the hospital, she was admitted to a rehabilitation facility. RP 196, ll. 12-17. She moved to an assisted living facility, Brookdale, in May 2014. RP 25, l. 14. Janet received an income of about \$2,700 per month, which would automatically deposit into a banking account Janet held jointly with Mr. Thompson. CP 12. Janet used her income to pay a portion of the cost of her long-term care—between \$1,650 and \$1,800 per month. CP 12; *see also* WAC 182-513-1509 (determining a client's financial participation in the cost of care for longterm care authorized by home and community services). Janet had other expenses too, "including TV, internet, storage facility, telephone, prescriptions, and 24/7 Oxygen." CP 12.

///

Janet owned a home, which she and Mr. Thompson decided to sell. CP 12. The proceeds of the sale were deposited into Janet's banking account. CP 13. Mr. Thompson proceeded to spend those sale proceeds "to pay for a number of items which were used by [Mr. Thompson] and his family." CP 13. He bought tires, car washes, and auto repairs for his own car. *Id.* He used \$700 to pay for his own telephone bill. *Id.* He spent Janet's money for items exclusively for himself at numerous retail stores including Mirage Pool and Spa, Nordstrom, Sports Authority, Ace Hardware, Home Depot, and Lowes. *Id.* He bought hotel stays, fast food, and gas for the benefit of himself and his family. *Id.*

Even though these purchases explicitly contradicted the Durable Power of Attorney instrument Janet signed (CP 323), Mr. Thompson thought that he had Janet's permission because she told him to use the money "as he saw fit." CP 13. But "[t]here was no evidence presented to indicate that Janet specifically approved any of these payments or purchases or that any of these purchases were meant as a gift to Mr. Thompson or his family by Janet." *Id.* Kathie Lloyd, Janet's financial eligibility specialist told Mr. Thompson that "any expenditure of Janet's assets must be for the sole benefit of Janet." CP 14.

Additionally, Mr. Thompson admitted at the hearing that he did not keep track of his time or efforts. RP 221, ll. 5-8, RP 30, ll. 17-25. He further

testified that he never formally compensated himself for services provided to his mother or reimbursed himself for his expenses related to his mother. RP 221, ll. 1-8.

Sally Wilkins, an APS investigator, was assigned to investigate the allegation of financial exploitation.³ CP 14. When she interviewed Janet, she showed Janet copies of her bank records. Id. Janet said Mr. Thompson "should not have spent that money." Id. Janet testified Mr. Thompson talked with her "one time" about spending the money from the sale of her home. RP 173, ll. 18-22. She never testified that she was aware of the purchases Mr. Thompson made out of her account either before they took place or contemporaneously. Id. When asked whether Mr. Thompson's spending was for Janet's benefit, she testified, "not always." RP 176, ll. 8-10. Even at the time of hearing, Janet was not aware of the specific purchases Mr. Thompson had made out of her account. RP 182, ll. 3-4. When asked, "do you know what the allegations against Matt are?" Janet replied, "No, I don't." Id. Janet believed that Mr. Thompson was making sure her rent was paid. RP 170, ll. 7-9. He was supposed to "pay my bills, make sure I didn't get overdue on anything." RP 172, ll. 1-5. In fact, her rent was in arrears for over a year. CP 17, 214-18. A worker from her assisted living facility

³ Janet's DSHS financial eligibility specialist referred the matter to APS. RP 74, ll. 12-13. APS first received Janet's bank records from the financial eligibility worker. CP 174.

testified, "there's always been a balance on this account since May 2014 to October 2015." RP 87, ll. 17-18. Janet expressed to the APS investigator that she was "very distressed to think that Matt may be using her money for himself." RP 95, ll. 16-23, CP 176. At the time the APS investigator interviewed her, Janet had little knowledge about her financial status. RP 94, ll. 14-15.

On August 11, 2016, Mr. Thompson came into the APS office to speak with the APS investigators. CP 182. During that meeting, Mr. Thompson admitted that he was the only one to use Janet's debit card. CP 183; RP 98, ll. 3-4. The APS investigator confronted Mr. Thompson about a \$9,000 loan Janet received in May 2015. CP 183. Initially, he told the APS investigator that Janet had signed the note for the \$9,000 loan. CP 183. When confronted with a comparison of the signatures, Mr. Thompson admitted to the APS investigator that he himself had signed the note. CP 183-84. The APS investigator wrote in her notes:

I asked Matt if he used Janet's money for his own benefit and he said yes, he did on occasion, but he always paid Janet back by depositing money in her account. In fact he said he pretty much commingled his own money with Janet's in her account and in his own Bank of America account he has with his wife.

CP 184. The APS investigator testified when she examined the bank records, she "did not see direct, um, deposits to repay Janet any of the

money he spent." RP 106, ll. 11-12. The APS investigator also asked Mr. Thompson "if he used [Janet's] debit card for himself on occasion and he said he did" CP 184. During that conversation, the APS investigator "went over most of the debit charges on the account." CP 185. Mr. Thompson admitted that he used the card for his own gas, for his pool, for charges at PetCo, tires, car washes, car repair, Beaverbark, AT&T, Nordstroms, and out of town travel including airfare, car rentals, and hotels. CP 185-86. The APS investigator also pointed out that there were overdraft charges to Mr. Thompson. *Id*.

The day after the APS investigator's conversation with Mr. Thompson, Janet telephoned the investigator. CP 186. Janet told the APS investigator "if I [the investigator] was in front of her [Janet] right now she would wring my neck for what I have done to Matthew." *Id.* The APS investigator explained to Janet that she "based [her] interview with Matthew on the facts that were in the bank statements [Janet] allowed [the APS investigator] to obtain [...]" *Id.* Janet then stated that "anything he has used, he had her permission to spend and she has seen the bank statements." CP 187.

The APS investigator relied on Janet's previous statements of surprise and dismay in making her finding that Mr. Thompson financially exploited Janet, determining the later statements to be less credible, since the APS investigator believed Mr. Thompson influenced Janet to change her story. RP 147-48. The investigator explained, "a person can have undue influence over a person by being a loved one and being in a trusted position." RP 149.

On August 25, 2016, APS mailed Mr. Thompson a notice stating its finding that he had financially exploited a vulnerable adult during the period of May 2014, through July 2016 under RCW 74.34.020(7). CP 166-69. He obtained a hearing, after which the ALJ reversed the APS finding of financial exploitation. CP 51-60. The Department timely appealed, and the Board of Appeals Review Judge reversed. CP 10-24. Mr. Thompson appealed. CP 1-3. The superior court affirmed the review decision and final order, CP 630-31, and on July 23, 2020, the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished decision, affirmed the APS finding of financial exploitation. On September 15, 2020, the Court of Appeals issued an order denying reconsideration.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Board of Appeals Review Judge did not exceed his authority or apply an incorrect legal framework, and did not disregard the ALJ's credibility determinations. The Court of Appeals committed no error in its review, and its decision is consistent with published decisions of the Court /// of Appeals. Mr. Thompson's constitutional rights were not violated, and this case presents no issue of substantial public interest.

First, Mr. Thompson does not challenge the findings that he used his mother's money for his own purposes. These are verities on appeal. *Haley*, 117 Wn.2d at 728. Instead, Mr. Thompson argues that where a vulnerable adult ratifies conduct after the fact, it is no longer exploitative. But when that ratification is brought about by undue influence in a fiduciary relationship, as in this case, that conduct remains financial exploitation.

Second, Mr. Thompson asserts there is a substantial public interest based on his assertion that the Review Judge ignored the ALJ's credibility determinations. However, independent, substantial evidence supported the Review Judge's conclusion that Mr. Thompson breached his fiduciary duty to his mother through his undue influence. Because substantial evidence supported the Review Judge's legal conclusions, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Review Judge and there is no substantial public interest presented here.

Third, Mr. Thompson erroneously asserted constitutional challenges. He first claimed the Review Judge exceeded his legal authority, but provided no further argument. He also claimed he was not afforded due process because he was not informed that his fiduciary duty to his mother would be an issue in determining whether there was financial exploitation. But the Department provided written notice to Mr. Thompson before the hearing that financial exploitation included a breach of fiduciary duty under RCW 74.34.020(7). CP 166-67.

Mr. Thompson has not satisfied any criterion under RAP 13.4(b), and his petition for review should be denied.

A. The Review Judge Did Not Err When He Concluded That Mr. Thompson Had Breached His Fiduciary Duty to His Mother

This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Review Judge properly applied the correct legal framework based on RCW 74.34.020(7)(b), and the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Review Judge does not conflict with settled case law. RCW 74.34.020(7)(b) defines financial exploitation as a "breach of a fiduciary duty, including, but not limited to, the misuse of a power of attorney ... that results in the unauthorized appropriation, sale, or transfer of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult for the benefit of a person or entity other than the vulnerable adult" As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, "a fiduciary is bound to act with the utmost faith and loyalty." *Thompson vs. DSHS*, No. 36554-9-III, slip op. at 6, (Wash., July 23, 2020) (quoting *Bryant v. Bryant*, 125 Wn.2d 113, 118-19, 882 P.2d 169 (1994) (holding that gifts of community property by husband as attorney in fact were unauthorized in absence of specific consent by wife)). The Court

cited *McCutcheon v. Brownfield* for the legal principal that when a principal makes a gift to a fiduciary, there arises a presumption of undue influence and the burden falls on the fiduciary to prove the absence of undue influence by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *Thompson*, slip op. at 6 (citing *McCutcheon*, 2 Wn. App. 348, 356-57, 467 P.2d 868 (1970) (court held evidence supported finding that a mother's deed was obtained by exercise of undue influence by her daughter)). A "presumption of undue influence applie[d] even when the principal and fiduciary have a parent-child relationship." *Thompson*, slip op. at 6-7 (citing *McCutcheon* at 356). To carry the burden, the fiduciary must prove the gift was given "freely, voluntarily, and with a full understanding of the facts." *Thompson*, slip op. at 6 (quoting *McCutcheon* at 356 (quoting 38 Am. Jur. 2d *Gifts* § 106 (1968))). The Court of Appeals was correct in affirming the Review Judge.

Substantial evidence supported the Review Judge's conclusion that Mr. Thompson failed to rebut the presumption of undue influence. Mr. Thompson failed to present any evidence that he explained his selfgifting to his mother. Furthermore, there was no evidence presented to prove the mother specifically approved any of these payments or purchases, or that his mother meant any of Mr. Thompson's purchases as a gift to Mr. Thompson or his family. While Janet testified she approved the gifts after the fact, she previously stated the purchases were unauthorized, and the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the Review Judge did not err by finding that this inconsistent evidence did not overcome the presumption of undue influence. *Thompson*, slip op. at 7.

Mr. Thompson suggests that where a vulnerable adult ratifies conduct after the fact, it is no longer exploitative. But, when that ratification is brought about by undue influence, as in this case, that conduct remains financial exploitation. Mr. Thompson erroneously relies upon Williams v. Shoudy, 12 Wn. 362, 368, 41 P. 169 (1895), and Nichols Hills Bank v. McCool, 104 Wn.2d 78, 85, 701 P.2d 1114 (1985), yet neither of these cases involves a familial relationship between the principal and fiduciary, which requires an additional consideration of an undue influence. Appellant's Brief at 7. He also relies on Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 636, 934 P.2d 669 (1997), for the premise that a principle can ratify the unauthorized act of a fiduciary. Appellant's Brief at 7. But the facts in Riss are not analogous. In Riss, the facts included individual association members who participated and ratified an unreasonable decision to reject a construction plan violating restrictive covenants against the homeowners-which again did not involve the presumption of undue influence due to a familial relationship. Riss at 636-37. Mr. Thompson cites no case involving a gift giving between a principal ///

and fiduciary in a familial relationship, which requires a heightened presumption of undue influence.

It is settled law that a fiduciary who has a familial relationship with the principal must show any gift giving is free of undue influence when disproving financial exploitation. The Review Judge and the Court of Appeals applied that settled law. There is no conflict with any Court of Appeals decision and no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Review Judge Appropriately Deferred to the ALJ's Credibility Determinations and No Substantial Public Interest Exists

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